



Connecting Needs with Capabilities

VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0 Screen Guide

Ver. 2.0 – October 2024 FDP-VFA-MCV4.0-SG-2.0-1024

Contact Information

Head Office: **CenterLine (Windsor) Limited** 415 Morton Drive Windsor ON N9J 3T8 Canada CAN. 519.734.8464 U.S. 313.962.1448 Toll Free: 800.820.6977 E-mail: info@cntrline.com

For additional contact information, visit our website at <u>WWW.Cntrline.com</u>

Disclaimer

This manual is provided for informational purposes only. Those responsible for the application and use of this product are responsible for ensuring that the product meets all applicable laws, regulation codes, and standards. CenterLine (Windsor) Limited does not, by the publication of this document, intend to urge action that is not in compliance with applicable laws, and this document may not be construed as doing so. CenterLine (Windsor) Limited has made every effort to ensure the accuracy and completeness of this document; however, because ongoing efforts are made to continually improve the capabilities of our products, we cannot guarantee the accuracy of the contents of this document. We disclaim liability for errors, omissions, or future changes herein.

In no event will CenterLine (Windsor) Limited be responsible or liable to any party for any personal injury, property or other damages of any nature whatsoever, whether special, direct, indirect, incidental, consequential or compensatory, directly or indirectly resulting from the publication, use of, or reliance on this document, and also from the use of the equipment described herein.

In issuing and making this document available, CenterLine (Windsor) Limited is not undertaking to render professional or other services for or on behalf of any person or entity. Nor is CenterLine (Windsor) Limited undertaking to perform any duty owed by any person or entity to someone else. Anyone using this document should rely on his or her own independent judgment or, as appropriate, seek the advice of a competent professional in determining the exercise of reasonable care in any given circumstances.

The illustrations, explanations, charts, and layout examples shown in this publication are intended solely for purposes of example. Since there are many variables and requirements associated with any particular installation, CenterLine (Windsor) Limited does not assume responsibility of liability (including intellectual property liability) for actual use based upon the information given in this publication.

Reproduction of the contents of this copyrighted publication, in whole or part, without written permission of CenterLine (Windsor) Limited, is prohibited.

© Copyright 2024, CenterLine (Windsor) Ltd. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

Contact Information	
Supporting Documentation	4
Human Machine Interfaces (HMI)	5
CLCS HMI Screen	5
PC / Cellphone Screen	5
Screen Navigation Chart	6
Screen Descriptions	7
Screen Saver	7
Run Screen	7
Live View	7
Graph View and Weld Profile View	
Password Screen	11
Level 1 Password (User Level)	
Level 2 Password (Maintenance Level)	13
User Settings Screen	13
Teach Screen	15
Step-Thru Teach Screen	17
Edit Schedule Name Screen	19
Maintenance Settings Screen	20
Tolerances Screen	21
Scaling Screen	23
Teach Settings Screen	26
Ethernet/IP Screen	27
Configuration Screen	
Wi-Fi Screen	31
Wi-Fi Authentication Screen	
Date & Time Zone Screen	
USB & Storage Screen	
Faults Screen	35
More Screen	
Change Password Screen	
Secondary Display Screen	40

Supporting Documentation

This document should be used in conjunction with the following CenterLine document:

• VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0 – User Manual.

Also, refer to any relevant information for the welding equipment and machinery that is being used with the VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0.

- Read and understand this document in its entirety prior to applying the procedures illustrated in this document.
- CenterLine has made every effort to ensure that the descriptions and procedures illustrated in this document are accurate. However, CenterLine reserves the right to make product changes that might not be reflected in this document.

Human Machine Interfaces (HMI)

The menu screens for the MicroView 4.0 can be accessed either directly on the CLCS HMI device(s), or through a PC Web Server on a PC computer or cell phone. In the sections that follow, the CLCS HMI version of each screen is shown first, followed by the PC Web Server version (if available). Note that not all menu screens are available for PC Web Server (see the Screen Navigation Chart on page 6 for illustration).

CLCS HMI Screen

The VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0 (also referred to as "MicroView 4.0") integrates at least one CLCS HMI (see Figure 1), while a second, identical CLCS HMI can is optional. The CLCS HMI screens are touch-screen displays that allow the user to configure and monitor the system, while navigating through screens by tapping the on-screen buttons.

If two CLCS HMI screens are being used, only one HMI can be primary (have control) at a moment, but the roles of the HMI(s) can be swapped at any time.

The Help menu is available on most screens by pressing on the **?** button to display a list of explanatory items.



Figure 1 – CLCS HMI Screens

PC / Cellphone Screen

In addition to the CLCS HMI(s) described above, the MicroView 4.0 system can also be configured from a PC or cellphone using a web browser via Wi-Fi or Ethernet. See Figure 2.



Figure 2 – PC or Cellphone Screens

Screen Navigation Chart



Figure 3 – MicroView 4.0 Screen Navigation Chart

Screen Descriptions

Screen Saver

Once the MicroView 4.0 is plugged in, the screen saver shown in Figure 4 activates after the CLCS HMI goes untouched for 1 to 5 minutes. Touch the CLCS HMI screen again to re-activate it.

<u>Note:</u> Regardless of the screen's display status, the VeriFast™ MicroView 4.0 runs in the background continuously, never shutting down.



Figure 4 – Screen Saver

Run Screen

The **Run** screen (see Figure 5) is the main operating screen of the VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0. It is used for monitoring the processes associated with the devices connected to the MicroView 4.0, scanning the inputs at a rate of 1000 Hz. This is also the landing screen, displayed once the MicroView 4.0 is plugged in.

The *Run* screen has 3 modes of displaying information, selectable by pressing the buttons on the screen:

- Live
- Graph
- Weld Profile.

Live View

The user can watch the Live Data for each device connected to the MicroView 4.0. The parameters that are monitored on this screen are listed separately for each device and are in concordance with the type of the device (e.g., Pin Extended, Weld Position, Set Down, and Pin Retracted for VeriFast[™] IA and LVDT; Gun Opened, Weld Position, Double Nut, and No Nut for LPT; and so on). The parameters are generally listed as P1, P2, P3, P4 for a generic device, but they can also be renamed from the *Configuration Screen* (see page 28). See Figure 5 for the *Live* screen viewed on the CLCS HMI, while Figure 6 shows the same screen viewed on a PC Web Server.



Figure 5 – Run Screen – Live View (on CLCS HMI)

MV4 Setup - Device D47C36E6E2E0 - Firmware 4.0.7.3	3 Settings 🐼 🔹 Live: 🔽
State: running Schedule 7 : Here is a very long description for Schedule 7	
Device 1: ENABLED	Device 2: ENABLED
5 Live Graph Weld Profile	5 Live Graph Weld Profile
9 Pin Extended 80.000 ± 700.000	Gun Open 22071.000 ± 211.000
Weld Position 15070.000 ± 700.000	Weld Position 1071.000 ± 211.000
Set Down 20070.000 ± 700.000	Double Nut 2571.000 ± 211.000
Pin Retracted 31040.000 ± 700.000	No Nut 771.000 ± 211.000
6 12.000	6 10.000

Figure 6 – Run Screen – Live View (on PC Web Server)

- **IP Address** and **Date/Time:** Displays the IP address and current date/time.
- 2 **Language** and **Measurement Unit:** Select the language to English, Portuguese, or Spanish (EN/PT/ES) and the measurement unit (counts/ mm/ inch).
- **Settings:** Access the *User Settings Screen* (page 13) to adjust various parameters. Level 1 Password (User Level) is required.
- Schedule Number and Name: Displays the number of the current running schedule and its name. Each device has 127 schedules. You can rename a schedule anytime via User Settings Screen > Teach > Edit Schedule Name Screen (see page 19).
- **5 Run Screen Views:** Switch between different views of the *Run Screen* (Live, Graph, or Weld Profile), to monitor the connected devices and processes.
- 6 Live Data: Displays the instant value corresponding to the live position of the monitored device. For example, for a VeriFast[™] IA connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1, this field will indicate the real time position of the weld pin on the VeriFast[™] IA unit.
- Nominal Position Value: Displays the nominal (already taught, if any) value for each position. For details on teaching these values, see the *Teach* section on page 15 and *Tolerances Screen* section on page 21.
- **Tolerance Value:** Displays the tolerance for each position.
- Device Specific Positions: The four positions are automatically defined for each type of device that is connected to the MicroView 4.0. (See also Table 2 on page 30). The taught value for each position is displayed in the corresponding line, including tolerance. Each position becomes highlighted by a green horizontal stripe when its corresponding Nominal Position Value (including the tolerance) is in the range of the Live Data value (6).
- Device Type Representation / Animation: Illustrates the type of the device connected (e.g., VeriFast™ IA / LVDT / LPT / Generic).

When the live data is within the nominal (+/-) tolerance range, the Device Specific Position (9) will be highlighted by the green, horizontal stripe.

IMPORTANT

The *Run* screen is used for monitoring the processes only and does not allow the user to do any configuration change. A password is required to access other screens for teaching, changing tolerances, device settings, etc..

Graph View and Weld Profile View

The **Graph** and **Weld Profile** views of the *Run* screen display the graphs of the monitored processes for each device that is connected to the MicroView 4.0. See Figure 7 for the view on the CLCS HMI and other details, and Figure 8 for the view on a PC Web Server.

- The *Graph* View displays the Live Data of the running schedule, in real time, represented by a black curve.
- The Weld Profile View displays the recorded weld signal, shown as a red curve.



Figure 7 – Run Screen – Graph View (on CLCS HMI)

MV4 Setup - I	Device D47C36E6E2E0 - Firmware 4.0.7.3	Settings 🔗 - Live
ite: running S	ichedule 8 : Here is a very long description for Schedule 8	
	Device 1: ENABLED	Device 2: ENABLED
	Live Graph Weld Profile	Live Graph Weld Profile
	35,000	25,000
	25,000	20,000
	15,000 P2	15,000
	5,000	5 000
	-5,000	
	N & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &	6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
	Pin Extended 90.000 ± 800.000	Gun Open 22071.000 ± 211.000
	Weld Position 15080.000 ± 800.000	Weld Position 1071.000 ± 211.000
	Set Down 20080.000 ± 800.000	Double Nut 2571.000 ± 211.000
	Pin Retracted 31050.000 ± 800.000	No Nut 771.000 ± 211.000
	12.000	12.000

Figure 8 – *Run* Screen – Graph View (on PC Web Server)

To analyze an interval of weld data on the CLCS HMI screen <u>only</u>, refer to Figure 7 and do the following:

(Note that this feature is not available on the PC Web Server).



- Drag your finger horizontally to create a vertical, red window for analyzing the signal on the screen.
- The device window is composed of the Nominal Position and the Upper/Lower Tolerance intervals. The green horizontal stripe indicates that the signal is in the taught range.

<u>Note</u>: Due to variances in fastener and stamping manufacturing, it is necessary to consider a range (or "window") of values that are acceptable for welding rather than just a static point. To determine the proper window that should be used, please refer to the VeriFastTM IA (or LVDT) User Manual, section Setup – Setting the Tolerance Windows for Fasteners. Then, input the tolerance windows onto the Tolerances Screen (see page 21).

IMPORTANT Graph and Weld Profile may interfere with the sampling rate.

Password Screen

Two different levels of passwords are used on the MicroView 4.0 to distinguish users and their access to the two different levels of menus (see Figure 9 below). The default passwords set for your equipment are provided in the *VeriFast™ MicroView 4.0 User Manual*.

The *Password* screens are automatically displayed when trying to access menus that are protected by the corresponding level of password.

IMPORTANT	Changing both passwords during the initial setup of the MicroView 4.0 is strongly recommended in order to improve the security and safety of your equipment. See the <i>Change Password Screen</i> section on page 38 for instructions.
IMPORTANT	If the machine is left idle, the <i>Password</i> screen logs out from the current credential level.

Enter Level 1 passwor	rd O			Enter evel 2 passwo
2	3	-	1	2
e	;	-	4	5
9		_	7	8
Clear		_	Back	0

a) Level 1 (User Level) Password is Required b) Level 2 (Maintenance Level) Password is Required Figure 9 – Two Password Levels for MicroView 4.0 (on CLCS HMI)



Figure 10 – Two Password Levels (on PC Web Server)

IMPORTANT

The PC Web Server displays a unique login password screen (see Figure 10). Press on one of the two icons at the top of the screen to select the desired level of password. The password that is introduced in the password field at the bottom of the screen must match the chosen password level (User or Maintenance).

Level 1 Password (User Level)

The menus protected by the **Level 1 Password (User Level)** offer access to a limited set of parameters that are useful for day-to-day operation of the equipment. Maintenance to the welding equipment, pins, or changes in parts can cause the set points to no longer be at the position that had been taught; therefore, a user with this level of password can re-teach these positions (but cannot adjust the tolerances). For more details, see the *User Settings Screen* section on page 13.

The *Level 1 Password* screen will be automatically displayed when following the path: *Run Screen* > "Settings" button > *Level 1 Password* screen.

Level 2 Password (Maintenance Level)

The menus protected by the **Level 2 Password (Maintenance Level)** are for changing passwords, configuring the system, and adjust settings that could cause major changes in operation. Features and parameters such as: tolerances, scaling, Ethernet/IP configuration, device settings, factory reset, and more can be adjusted and customized at this level.

The Level 2 Password screen will be automatically displayed when following the path: *Run Screen* > "Settings" button > *Level 1 Password* screen (introduce the Level 1 Password) > *User Settings Screen* > "Maintenance Settings" button > *Level 2 Password* screen.

User Settings Screen

The **User Settings** screen can be accessed directly from any of the *Run* screens by pressing the **Settings** button (see the *Run Screen* section on page 7). The *User Settings* screen is protected by the Level 1 Password (User Level).

Note: On the PC Web Server, the user must select the Level 1 Password (User Level) icon on the screen shown in Figure 10 on page 12.



Figure 11 – User Settings Screen (on CLCS HMI)

MV4 Setup - Device 9C8384455F34 - Firmware 4.0.7.3			💰 🔹 Live: 🔽
State: running Schedule 7 ; Here is a v 7			
	User Settings		
	User		
	Run	.	
2	Teach		
	Tolerance	*	
	Scaling		
	More		

Figure 12 – User Settings Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Run* screen.
- 7 Teach: Button for access to the Teach (see page 15).
- 3 Maintenance Settings: Button for access to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20). It requires Level 2 Password (Maintenance Level).
- **Device Overview:** The information listed underneath provides information about the MicroView 4.0. The same list is displayed on the second CLCS HMI display, if equipped. See the Secondary Display Screen section on page 40.
- **Schedule Number:** Displays the number of the running Schedule.
- **Live Data:** Displays the Live Data for each device, in **counts** only.
- **Device Positions:** The current position for each device becomes highlighted green.
- 8 **Communication:** Indicates if the MicroView 4.0 is connected over the Ethernet/IP or Wi-Fi, along with the IP Address.
- **Controller Info:** The list under it displays information about the Controller. <u>Note:</u> The MicroView 4.0 ID is the unique ID for the Controller.
- **Log Out:** Press this button to log out from the current login level and return to the *Run Screen* (see page 7).

IMPORTANT

The PLC has priority over the MicroView 4.0 login. "Log Out" (10) may not work when Ethernet/IP login level is set.

Teach Screen

The **Teach** screen (see Figure 13 for CLCS HMI or Figure 14 for PC Web Server) allows the user to teach the schedules and positions for the devices connected to the MicroView 4.0. The access to this screen is protected by the Level 1 Password (User Level). (See *Password Screen* section on page 11 as reference).

Most parameters that are displayed on the *Teach* screen belong to the selected schedule, except the Live Data values (7), which represent the real-time positions for Device 1 and Device 2. Any schedule can be selected and edited on this screen while another schedule runs in the back.

To access the Teach screen, refer to the Screen Navigation Chart on page 6.



IMPORTANT

While a schedule is running, another schedule can be selected and taught.



Figure 13 – Teach Screen (on CLCS HMI)

- HV4 Setup - Device 87D36E6	E2E0 - Firmware	2 Step Thru Teach Settings 🐼 🔹 Live: 🗸
State: running Schedule 63: H	ere is a very long description for Schedule 1	
	Here you can <u>view</u> the schedule	3
	Schedule #63 Here is a very long description for Schedule 63	View Schedule
	Name Here is a very long description for Schedule 1	Change Name 4
	Device 1: ENABLED Device 2: ENABL	LED
	Live Graph Weld Profile Live Graph We	eld Profile
	Pin Extended 20.000 Image: 100.000 Pin Extended	22011.000 ± 31.000
	Weld Position 15010.000 2 ± 100.000 Weld Position	1011.000 ± 31.000
	Set Down 20010.000 2 ± 100.000 Set Down	2511.000 ± 31.000
	Pin Retracted 30980.000 Image: Comparison of the state of the sta	711.000 ± 31.000
	9 Save Teach Values for Schedule 63	Save Teach Values for Schedule 63
	7 1218.000	10.000

Figure 14 – Teach Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Run* screen.
- 2 Step-Thru Teach: Access to the Step-Thru Teach Screen (see page 17).
- **Schedule Name:** Displays the name of the selected Schedule.
- **Edit Schedule Name:** Press this button to display the keypad that permits the renaming of the selected Schedule. The *Edit Schedule Name Screen* (see page 19) will be displayed.
- **Schedule Number Navigation (** or +): Press these buttons to navigate through the schedules.
- 6 Quick Access to the Schedule Number: Displays the number of the selected Schedule. Pressing on this field displays the Number Pad (18), which permits to directly choose another schedule number. The selected schedule can then be taught on the current screen, regardless of the schedule running in the back.
- 7 Live Data: Displays the real-time position for Device 1 and Device 2. For example, for a VeriFast™ IA unit connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1, this field will indicate the real time position of the weld pin on the VeriFast™ IA unit.
- 8 **Number Pad:** Appears after pressing on fields that can be edited (for example: 6 "Quick Access to Schedule Number" field, or 10 "Directly Teaching" fields).
- **Teach:** Pressing each individual button teaches the Nominal Position Value that is displayed on that line in the Directly Teaching field (see 10). For details about teaching the MicroView 4.0, refer to the VeriFast™ MicroView 4.0 User Manual and look for the Teaching the MicroView 4.0 section.

Directly Teaching: Press on the corresponding field to display the Number Pad (8), which permits to directly input a Nominal Position Value for each Device Specific Position. Then, press on the corresponding Teach button (see 9) to teach.

Step-Thru Teach Screen



Use **extreme caution** while using the *Step-thru Teach* screen, as all outputs on this screen are live and can generate instantaneous unexpected moves of the robot and attached equipment.

The **Step-Thru Teach** screen allows the user to quickly program schedules that are typical to <u>robot</u> <u>applications</u>. The *Step-Thru Teach* screen is an extension of the *Teach* illustrated in the previous section.

Step-Thru Teach is a feature that allows the MicroView 4.0 to guide a robot through the welding procedure while teaching each set point. This feature requires the robot program to be waiting for each position output before proceeding to the next step.

One benefit of this feature is that it eliminates the need to put the robot in teach mode. The Step-Thru Teach feature guides the user through each position. When the pin is in the correct position, the user presses the corresponding Teach button, and the MicroView 4.0 sets that output to be the new nominal value. This process continues until all four positions (P1, P2, P3, P4) are taught, then the settings are saved, and the user is returned to the *User Settings Screen* on page 13.

To access and teach the parameters/positions for robot applications using the *Step-Thru Teach* screen, access the *Teach* (see page 15), then press on the Step-Thru Teach button. The screen in Figure 15 or Figure 16 will be displayed.



Figure 15 – Step-Thru Teach Screen (on CLCS HMI)

- MV4 Setup - Device 9C8384455F34 - Firm	ware 4.0.7.3					<u> </u>	Back	Settings	🗟 🔹 Live: 🔽		
State: running Schedule 7: Here is a v 7											
Schedule #11	11 2					٥					
Device 1: ENA	Device 1: ENABLED Device 2: ENABLED										
Live Graph	Weld Profile			Live Graph We	eld Profile						
	İ										
		•									
Pin Extended	80.000	± 700.000	_ 5	Pin Extended	22071.000	± 211.000					
Weld Position	15070.000	± 700.000	- Teach 🕲	Weld Position	1071.000	± 211.000	Teach 🕄				
Set Down	20070.000	± 700.000		Set Down	2571.000	± 211.000					
Pin Retracted	31040.000	± 700.000		Pin Retracted	771.000	± 211.000					
	3 32721.0	00			11.00	00					

Figure 16 - Step-Thru Teach Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Teach* (see page 15).
- **Schedule Number** and **Name:** Fields displaying the number and name of the selected Schedule.
- 3 Live Data: Displays the real-time position for Device 1 and Device 2. For example, for a VeriFast™ IA unit connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1, this field will indicate the real time position of the weld pin on the VeriFast™ IA unit.
- Highlight Step-Thru Teaching Position: To teach a position or status, select the Nominal Position Value (highlighted in yellow on the CLCS HMI and blue on the PC Web Server) and press the corresponding "Teach" button (5). Once the position is taught, the highlight will automatically move to the next value.
- **Teach:** Press this button to assign the displayed Live Data position (**3**) to the highlighted position or status. Once a position or status is taught, the next one on the list will be automatically highlighted.

Edit Schedule Name Screen

This screen (see Figure 17) allows the user to edit the name of the schedule. The access to this screen is protected by the Level 1 Password (User Level). (See *Password Screen* section on page 11 as reference). To access this screen, do the following:

- On CLCS HMI, go to: Run Screen > "Settings" button > "Level 1 Password" prompt > User Settings Screen > "Teach" button > Teach Screen > with button.
- On PC Web Server, go to: Run Screen > "Settings" button > Choose an icon and introduce the corresponding password > User Settings Screen > "Teach" button > Teach Screen > Change Name button (see Figure 14 on page 16).



Figure 17 – Edit Schedule Name Screen (on CLCS HMI)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Teach* (see page 15).
- **2** Schedule Number and Name: Fields displaying the number and name of the selected schedule. Only the schedule name can be edited while on this screen.
- **Keypad:** Use these keys to change the name of the schedule.
 - **Save New Name:** Press this button to save the name of the schedule.

Maintenance Settings Screen

The **Maintenance Settings** screen (shown in Figure 18) allows for setting several functions and parameters related to the MicroView 4.0. Access to this screen is protected by the Level 2 (Maintenance Level) password (see the *Password Screen* section on page 11 for reference).

To access the Maintenance Settings screen, do the following:

- On CLCS HMI, go to: Run Screen > "Settings" button > "Level 1 Password" prompt > User Settings Screen > "Maintenance Settings" button > "Level 2 Password" prompt > "Maintenance Settings" screen.
- On PC Web Server go to: Run Screen > "Settings" button > Choose the icon for the "Maintenance Level Password" and introduce the corresponding password > User Settings Screen > "Teach" button > Teach Screen > Change Name button.

1	< Maintenance	e Settings ?
	Tolerances	Wi-Fi
	Scaling	Date & Time Zone
2	Teach Settings	USB Storage
	Ethernet/IP	Faults
	Configuration	More
	Change Level 1 Password	Change Level 2 Password
3	Controller Info	
	MicroView ID	1c7936e6e2e0
	Name	Microview_Master
	Firmware Version	4.0.7.1
	4 Install Pen	ding Update
	Loε	gOut 5

Figure 18 – Maintenance Settings Screen (on CLCS HMI)

vare 4.0.7.3		
long description for	Schedule 127	
•	Maintenance Setting	gs
-	Maintenance 😡	
	Run	. .
6	Teach	٢
4	Tolerance	<u>+</u> ↑
	Scaling	J1
	More	+
	Change Password	۵

Figure 19 – Maintenance Settings Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the User Settings Screen (see page 13).
- Access to Screens: Press a button to go to the corresponding screen. <u>Note:</u> Some of the menu screens are only available on the CLCS HMI, but not on the PC Web Server. See the Screen Navigation Chart on page 6 for illustration.
- **Controller Info:** Provides information about the Controller.
- Install Pending Update: This button is available when the MicroView 4.0 is connected to Wi-Fi and a software update is available.
- **5** Log Out: Press this button to log out from the current login level.

IMPORTANT	The MicroView 4.0 ID identifies the Controller and is unique. It can be used for over-the-air updates (OTA) when a new firmware update is available.
IMPORTANT	The PLC has priority over the MicroView 4.0 login. "Log Out" (5) may not work when Ethernet/IP login level is set.

Tolerances Screen

The **Tolerances** screen (see Figure 20) allows the user to set/adjust the tolerances for each predefined position/status (P1, P2, P3, P4). First, ensure that the correct device, schedule, and position/status are selected; then, define the tolerance. For instructions on how to define the tolerance windows, refer to the user manuals of the devices connected to the MicroView 4.0 (for example, *VeriFast™ IA User Manual, VeriFast™ LVDT User Manual*, etc.).

Any schedule can be selected and have its tolerances edited on this screen, even if another schedule is running in the back.

The Tolerances screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20).



Figure 20 – Tolerances Screen (on CLCS HMI)

🔶 MV4 Setup - Device 87D36E6E2	E0 - Firmware												Settings	Live: 🔽
State: running Schedule 63: Here	e is a very long description	for Schedu	ile 1											
н	lere you can <u>view</u> the sche	dule												
	Schedule #63 Here is a very long	g description f	or Scheo	dule 63						~ v	/iew Schedule C	3		
	Name Here is a very long	g description f	or Schee	dule 1						C	Shange Name			
	_					_					_			
	Device 1: ENAB	LED				Dev	vice 2: EN	ABLED						
	Live Graph W	eld Profile				Live	Graph	Weld Profile						
	Pin Extended	20.000		100.000		Pi	n Extended	22011.000	±	31.000	0			
	Weld Position	15010.000	+	100.000		144	eld Position	1011.000	+	31.000				
		15010.000	-	100.000			ciarosition	1011.000	-	51.000				
	Set Down	20010.000	±	100.000	\$		Set Down	2511.000	±	31.000				
	Pin Retracted	30980.000	±	100.000	٢	Pi	n Retracted	711.000	±	31.000				
	Save Tole	rance Values f	or Sched	lule 63			Save	Tolerance Values	for Schedule	63				

Figure 21 – Tolerances Screen (on PC Web Server)

4	Back: Go back to the Main	tenance Settings Screen (see page 20).

- **Schedule Number Navigation (** or +): Press these buttons to navigate through the schedules.
- 3 **Schedule Number:** Displays the number of the selected Schedule. Pressing on this field displays the Number Pad ((3)), which permits to directly choose another schedule number. The tolerances can then be set on the current screen, regardless of the schedule running in the back.
- 4 Live Data: Displays the real-time position for Device 1 and Device 2. For example, for a VeriFast™ IA unit connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1, this field will indicate the real time position of the weld pin on the VeriFast™ IA unit.
- **Nominal Position Value:** Represents the nominal (already taught, if any) value for each position.
- 6 Tolerance Value: Displays the Tolerance value assigned to the corresponding position. To directly assign a value for the tolerance, press on the field and the Number Pad (9) will be displayed.

To adjust the Tolerance values in stages, see the descriptions for 7 and 8 below.

Decrease Tolerance Value: Press on the _____ button to decrease the corresponding Tolerance value by hundredths.____

Press on the <u>button</u> to decrease the corresponding Tolerance value by tenths.

Bincrease Tolerance Value: Press on the ++ button to increase the corresponding Tolerance value by hundredths.

Press on the + button to increase the corresponding Tolerance value by tenths.

9 Number Pad: Appears after pressing on the Tolerance field (see 6). Input the desired number, then press Enter to accept the value.

Note: For minimum and maximum tolerance intervals that can be set, see Table 1 below.

Measurement Unit	Minimum Tolerance	Maximum Tolerance
Counts	± 0	± 2000
Millimeters	± 0	± 1.465
Inch	± 0	± 0.058

Table 1 – Minimum and Maximum Tolerances for MicroView 4.0

Scaling Screen

The Scaling procedure is used to attune the MicroView 4.0 unit for accurate measuring in **millimeters** (mm) or inches (in.) during operation. Without proper scaling, measuring in mm and in. will provide

inaccurate readings. Using counts during operation does not require scaling.

IMPORTANT

Scaling must be performed during the initial setup, and subsequently whenever a device is connected to the VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0.

Scaling must be done individually for each device using either **mm** or **inches**.

The Scaling screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20).

		1			?	
			Devic	e 1	2 23.00	04 mm
0 -			_	Minimum value	12 3	Set
•	16.4			Maximum value	14 4	Set
1	2	3		Travel Distance	78.2 5	mm
4	5	6		Save	7	in
7	8	9	Devic	e 2	16.32	25 mm
•	0	<		Minimum Value	34	Set
Cance	el B	Inter	T	Maximum Value	23	Set
				Travel Distance	57.5	mm
				Save		in

Figure 22 – Scaling Screen (on CLCS HMI)

🕆 MV4 Setup - Device 9	C8384455F34 - Firmware 4.	0.7.3					Settings 👔 🔹 Live: 🗸
State: running Schedule	7 : Here is a very long de	cription for Schedule 7					Units for scaling: mm inch
	Device 1: ENABLED			Device 2: ENABLED			6
	Live Graph Weld Prof	le		Live Graph Weld Profile			
				4			
	Minimum Value	0.000 3	Set	Minimum Value	0.000 3	Set	
	Maximum Value	32767.000	Set	Maximum Value	32767.000	Set	
	Travel Distance	25.40 5	mm	Travel Distance	25.40 5	mm	
	7	Save Scaling		7	Save Scaling		
		32718.000 2			10.000 2		

Figure 23 - Scaling Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- 2 Live Data: Displays the real-time position for Device 1 and Device 2. For example, for a VeriFast™ IA unit connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1, this field will indicate the real time position of the weld pin on the VeriFast™ IA unit.
- 6 Minimum Value: The value that needs to be recorded in this field corresponds to the minimum travel position of the selected device (e.g., maximum extended position for an IA or LVDT pin, or fully open position for a welding gun (LPT)). To record this value, set the device in the minimum travel position and press the corresponding Set button.
- Maximum Value: The value that needs to be recorded in this field corresponds to the maximum travel position of the selected device (e.g., maximum retracted position for an IA or LVDT pin, or fully closed position for a welding gun (LPT)). To record this value, set the device in the maximum travel position and press the corresponding Set button.

5 Travel Distance: Pressing on this field will display the Number Pad (⁸), on which the user should introduce the Travel Distance number for the selected device. <u>IMPORTANT</u>: The Travel Distance number, also known as the "Sensor Maximum Displacement", is the distance between the position used for teaching the Maximum Value (see ⁴) and the position used for teaching the Minimum Value (see ³).

6 Measuring Unit Selector: Press the button corresponding to the preferred type of measuring unit for the scaling procedure only. The scaling procedure needs to be performed using one type of measuring units, not both.

<u>IMPORTANT</u>: The measuring unit selected on this screen does not affect the choice of measuring units used during the regular operation of the MicroView 4.0.

- **Save:** Press this button to save the settings on the Scaling screen.
- 8 **Number Pad:** Appears after pressing on the Tolerance field (see 6). Input the desired number, then press Enter to accept the value.

Teach Settings Screen

The **Teach Settings** screen allows the user to enable and configure the teach parameters with two possibilities:

- P3 relative to P2: Used to ensure consistency in the positioning of P3 across different schedules by aligning it relative to P2.
- Universal P1 and P4 for all Schedules: Used to establish uniformity in the positioning of P1 and P4 across all schedules. P1 and P4 from Schedule 1 are used to set Universal P1 and P4 for all Schedules.

<u>Note:</u> This screen is accessible from the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.

	leach Settings						
Ensure differe	Ensure consistency in the positioning of P3 across different schedules by aligning it relative to P2.						
Establi: across	Establish uniformity in the positioning of P1 and P4 across all schedules.						
Devi	ce 1	2.104 in					
	2 P3 relativ	e to P2					
	Disabled	Enabled					
3 Universal P1 and P4 for all Schedules							
	Disabled Enabled						
Devi	ce 2	1.546 in					
	P3 relativ	e to P2					
	Disabled	Enabled					
	Universal P1 and P4	for all Schedules					
	Disabled	Enabled					

Figure 24 – Teach Settings Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- P3 relative to P2: Must press the "Enabled" button for the feature to become active (blue) for each device.
- 3 **Universal P1 and P4 for all Schedules:** Must press the "Enabled" button for the feature to become active (blue) for each device.

Ethernet/IP Screen

The **Ethernet/IP** screen allows the user to configure the Ethernet/IP for communication with the VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0. The two modes of communication via *DHCP* or *Static* are selectable by pressing on the corresponding button, see Figure 25.

```
IMPORTANT
```

The DHCP button on this screen becomes available only if the DHCP option is first enabled in the *Configuration Screen* (see page 28).

<u>Note:</u> The Ethernet/IP screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.



Figure 25 – Ethernet/IP Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- IP Address Type: Press on the corresponding button to select a mode (button becomes blue):
 - **DHCP:** The controller will be assigned an IP address via DHCP. <u>IMPORTANT</u>: By default, the DHCP button on this screen is unavailable (see Figure 25 a)). The DHCP button becomes available and can be selected (see Figure 25 b)) only after the DHCP option is enabled in the *Configuration Screen* (see page 28).
 - Static: Allows the user to set a static IP, using the fields that open underneath.
- 3 Save IP Settings: Press this button to save the settings on the Ethernet/IP screen.
- 4 IP Address: Enter the IP address. Use the number keys (8) on the screen to specify each octet.
- 5 Net Mask: Enter the subnet mask. Use the number keys (8) on the screen to specify each octet.
- 6 Gateway: Enter the gateway address. Use the number keys (8) on the screen to specify each octet.
- **DNS:** Enter the DNS address. Use the number keys (8) on the screen to specify each octet.
- 8 Number Keys: Input the desired numbers for each selected octet.

Configuration Screen

The Configuration screen allows the user to:

- Enable or Disable the DHCP feature.
- Switch the display between the two CLCS HMI screens. <u>Note</u>: This feature applies only if the MicroView 4.0 is equipped with a second CLCS HMI.
- Flip the image upside down on the CLCS HMI screen. This feature can be useful if the CLCS HMI needs to be mounted upside down to accommodate the position of the electrical cable on the back.
- Perform a Factory Reset.
- Rename the device positions (P1, P2, P3, P4).

<u>Note:</u> The Configuration screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.

1	<	Configuration									?	
2	Enak	Enable/Disable DHCP						Disabled Enabled				
3	Swit	ch Be	twee	n Scre	eens		Dis	sable	d	Enable	ed	
4	Flip	Scree	n Vie	W			Dis	sable	d	Enable	ed	
5				Fa	acto	ry R	ese	t				
			De	vice 1					Devic	e 2		
	P1		Cust	om P	1		Custom P1					
	P2	6	Cust	om P	2		Custom P2					
	P 3		Cust	om P	3		Custom P3					
	P4		Cust	om P	4		Custom P4					
	7	Dis	abled	En	able	d		Disabl	ed	Enabl	ed	
	1	2	3	А	5	6	7	8		0	٤	
	q	w	e	r	t	Ť	y í	u	i	0	p	
	a	8 S	d	f		g		h	j	k	1	
	^	z	x	с	v	T	b	n	m	,		

Figure 26 - Configuration Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- Enable/Disable DHCP: By default, this button is set to "Disabled", in which case the DHCP button option on the *Ethernet/IP Screen* (see page 27) is also disabled and unavailable for selection. To be able to establish your system communication as DHCP, first set this button on this screen to "Enabled", then go to the *Ethernet/IP Screen* (see page 27) to select the DHCP mode of communication.
- 3 **Switch Between Screens:** When enabled, this feature allows for switching the screens between the two CLCS HMI-s (if equipped). Only one screen can have the control at a time, see the *Secondary Display Screen* section on page 40.
- Flip Screen View: This feature is useful when the CLCS HMI unit must be mounted upside down (for example, to accommodate for the position of the electrical cable at the back of the unit). Enable this button to flip the screen display upside down on the CLCS HMI that has the control. <u>Note</u>: To flip the screen display on the second CLCS HMI (if equipped), you must first inquire control on that screen; then, enable the "Flip Screen View" for this screen.
- 5 **Factory Reset:** Use caution before pressing this button to perform a Factory Reset in the MicroView 4.0 controller! See the statement below.



Use **extreme caution** when performing a Factory Reset procedure, as this action will erase all settings and saved data from the controller, reverting it to its original factory settings. All tolerances, nominal values, schedules, and custom settings will be erased.

6 **Rename Device Positions:** These field buttons allow for renaming the P1, P2, P3, P4 positions by pressing on the corresponding button, then using the keypad on the screen (see 8) to rename each position for each device.

Note: By default, the four positions are automatically defined by the type of device that is connected to the MicroView 4.0 (see Table 2). After renaming in this screen, the new position names are going to be displayed in the program only if the button underneath (see 7) is set to "Enabled"; otherwise, the positions will still be shown by their default names.

Table 2 – Pre-Defined Device Positions

Device Representation /	VeriFast™ IA / LVDT	LPT	Generic Device
Animation Monitored Position / Parameter			
Position 1	Pin Extended	Gun Opened	P1
Position 2	Weld Position	Weld Position	P2
Position 3	Set Down	Double Nut	P3
Position 4	Pin Retracted	No Nut	P4

- Disabled/Enabled (for the Custom Position Names): Once the device positions have been renamed on the field buttons above (see 6), this button (7) must be set to "Enabled" in order for the program to display the new position names for each device. Otherwise, if this button is set to "Disable", the system will continue to display the default position names, set automatically by the device type (VeriFast™ IA, LVDT, LPT, generic device).
 - Keypad: Use these keys to change the position names.

8

Wi-Fi Screen

The **Wi-Fi** screen (see Figure 27) allows the user to connect the MicroView 4.0 to a Wi-Fi hotspot. The procedure involves scanning for available Wi-Fi networks, and then connecting to the desired Wi-Fi network via the *Wi-Fi Authentication Screen* (see page 32).

<u>Note:</u> The Wi-Fi screen is accessible from the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.

Clear	Clea	ar		Cle	ear Disconnect	
Not connected to a network		Not connected to a net	work	Wi Wi	-Fi SSID -Fi network	
Connect to Wi-Fi		Connect to Wi-Fi		IP / 19:	Address 2.168.8.247	-
Networks Available - 5 🛛 🖉 🔽 scan	Net	works Available - 5	2 Scan	Ne	tworks Available - 5	2 Scan
	al at	Wi-Fi network 1 WPA2	3 Connect	al	Wi-Fi network 1 WPA2	Connect
	at	Wi-Fi network 2 WPA2	Connect	al	Wi-Fi network 2 WPA2	Connect
	al	Wi-Fi network 3 WPA2	Connect	al	Wi-Fi network 3 WPA2	Connect
	al	Wi-Fi network 4 WPA2	Connect	al	Wi-Fi network 4 WPA2	Connect
		Wi-Fi network 5 WPA2	Connect	al.	Wi-Fi network 5 WPA2	Connect

Figure 27 – Wi-Fi Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- Scan: When setting up the system for the first time, the screen in Figure 27 a) is displayed. Press on the "Scan" button to start scanning for available Wi-Fi hotspots. A list of available Wi-Fi hotspots will appear underneath (see 3 in Figure 27 b)). (*Note:* The "Connect to Wi-Fi" button is not active yet).
- Connect: Choose the desired Wi-Fi network from the list and press on the corresponding "Connect" button. The *Wi-Fi Authentication Screen* (see page 32) will be displayed automatically, requiring the user to introduce the **Wi-Fi password**. *Note:* Once connected, the information about the Wi-Fi network will be displayed in the field at the top of

the screen (see 4) in Figure 27 c)). The "Disconnect" button (see 5) will also appear on the screen.

Wi-Fi Information (Type and **IP Address):** This field displays the information about the Wi-Fi to which the MicroView 4.0 is now connected.

Disconnect: Press this button to disconnect from the selected Wi-Fi. <u>Note:</u> After the disconnection, this button will revert to "Connect", so that the MicroView 4.0 can be reconnected to the same selected Wi-Fi if desired.



Wi-Fi Authentication Screen

This screen allows the user to validate the Wi-Fi hotspot that was selected in the *Wi-Fi Screen* (see page 31). This screen is displayed automatically, requiring the user to introduce the **Wi-Fi password** to validate the connection of the MicroView 4.0 to the selected Wi-Fi hotspot.

<u>Note:</u> The Wi-Fi Authentication screen is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.



Figure 28 – Wi-Fi Authentication Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

Back: Go back to the *Wi-Fi Screen* (see page 31).

Type Wi-Fi Password: Introduce the Wi-Fi password by using the Keypad (3).

- **Keypad:** Use these keys to introduce the Wi-Fi password.
- Login: Press this button to establish the connection to the Wi-Fi hotspot.
- **Clear:** Press this button to delete the password that was introduced and saved in the memory.

Date & Time Zone Screen

This screen allows the user to set the date, time, and the time zone for the MicroView 4.0.

<u>Note:</u> The Date & Time Zone screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.



Figure 29 – Date & Time Zone Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- 2 Date: Use the + and buttons for each field to set the current date.
- **Time:** Use the + and buttons for each field to set the correct time.
- **Time zone:** Use the + and buttons to set the correct time zone.

USB & Storage Screen

IMPORTAN

The MicroView 4.0 is capable of recording data when the device measures an analog signal that falls within the P2 and P3 nominal positions. This data is recorded internally and then can be downloaded to a USB flash drive using this screen.

<u>Note:</u> The USB & Storage screen is accessible from the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.

- Do not use an USB flash drive with memory over 4 GB.
- If no USB flash drive is inserted, the process will fail, and a notification will be displayed.



- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- 2 **Mount USB:** Press this button to start the process. While the screen shown in Figure 30 b) is displayed, insert the USB flash drive into the appropriate port of the MicroView 4.0 Process Monitor (see the *VeriFast™ MicroView 4.0 User Manual* for illustration).
- **3 Download to USB:** Press this button to download all the weld data from the controller to the USB flash drive.

Clear Flash Data (not Settings): Press this button to erase all the recorded weld data from the controller.

Data Saved: This notification appears as feedback after the data was successfully saved to the USB flash drive.

Faults Screen

The **Faults** screen (see Figure 31) notifies the user about the faults that appear within the system. The notifications serve for information purposes only, and they do not stop the equipment from continuing to operate. The user should fix each issue that is listed, then clear each fault manually on this screen.

<u>Note:</u> The Faults screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20) and is available on the CLCS HMI only. This screen is not available on the PC Web Server.



Figure 31 – Faults Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- **Fault Display:** Each fault is listed on this field as it occurs. Each fault should be fixed.
 - : Press on the corresponding button to clear an individual fault.
- **Clear All:** Pressing this button clears all the faults simultaneously.

More Screen

The More screen allows the user to:

- Select the device type(s) connected to MicroView 4.0,
- Enable or disable a device,
- Invert the animation direction of a device.

Note: The More screen is accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20).



Figure 32 - More Screen (on CLCS HMI)

3				
otion for Schedule	e 7			
3	Device Setting Device 1 Type: Lower Electrode	JS Upper Electrode	Generic	Invert Image: Off
	Device 2 Type:			4
3	Lower Electrode	Upper Electrode	Generic	Invert Image: On
	2 Device 1: Enabled	Device 2:	Enabled	2

Figure 33 – More Screen (Called "Device Settings" Screen on PC Web Server)

- **Back:** Go back to the *Maintenance Settings Screen* (see page 20).
- **Enabled / Disabled:** Press this button to enable or disable the corresponding device.
- 3 Lower Electrode / Upper Electrode / Generic: Press one of the images to select what type of device is connected to the MicroView 4.0 as Device 1 and as Device 2. When a selection is made, a green rectangle surrounds the image. The types of devices and their monitored parameters are illustrated in Table 2 on page 30.

IMPORTANT: To verify the selection, go to the *Run Screen* (see page 7) to visualize that the correct component is indeed selected for each device.

Invert: When set to OFF, the device animation is associated from analog input '0' to '32767' (max. position). If set to ON, the animation direction changes from '32767' (or max. position) to '0'. See Table 3.

	0	32767
Invert Image Off	, Ĥ	1
Invert Image On		

Table 3 – Inverting the Device Animation

Change Password Screen

The **Change Password** screen allows for changing the access password for the selected usage level (*User* or *Maintenance* Level). The default passwords that are originally set for your equipment are provided in the *VeriFast™ MicroView 4.0 User Manual*.

<u>Note:</u> The Change Level 1 (or 2) Password screens are accessible from the Maintenance Settings Screen (see page 20). Press on the corresponding buttons to automatically display the screens shown in Figure 34 or Figure 35.



Figure 34 – Change Password Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

	2.179/password		
	СІ Арр Нотераде		
	F9D108 - Firmware 4.0.7.3	se and an	
	: Here is a very long description for Schedule 127		
	Password Settings		
	Change User Password	Change Maintenance Password	
n for Sche	Change User Password	Change Maintenance Password	
	Current User Password:	Current Maintenance Password:	
Passv		Passy	
Chan	New User Password:	Chan: Password is invalid or empty.	
	Enter new password	New Maintenance Password:	
Dev	Confirm new password	Dev 2	
Devic	Passwords are invalid or do not match.	Confirm new password ①	
Lov	Password must be only 5 numbers.	Passwords are invalid or do not match. Password must be only 5 numbers.	
Devic		Devic	
Lov	close ave n	Lov Close 3 Save n	
De	vice 1: Enabled Device 2: Enabled	Device 1: Enabled Device 2: Enabled	

Figure 35 – Change Password Screen (on PC Web Server)

- **Enter New Password:** Ensure that the desired password level (1 or 2) is displayed.
- 2 Number Pad / Field: Introduce the desired password for each level.
- **Save:** Press this button to save the new password.

Secondary Display Screen

When a second CLCS HMI is connected to the VeriFast[™] MicroView 4.0, the user can swap the functionality between the first and secondary display. Only one of the displays can have the control at a time, with the capability of navigating through all the necessary menus illustrated in this Screen Guide. The secondary display (see Figure 36) has limited functionality. This feature is useful, for example, when one CLCS HMI is inside of an industrial cell, while the other is outside the cell.

Note: The Secondary Display screen is not available on the PC Web Server.

1 s	econdary D	isplay			
2 Take Control					
Device Ove	erview				
Schedule #	127				
Device 1	10	P1 P2 P3 P4			
Device 2	30632	P1 P2 P3 P4			
Static/IP	4 192.	168.10.34			

Figure 36 – Secondary Display Screen (on CLCS HMI only)

- **Secondary Display:** Indicates that this CLCS HMI display is currently the secondary display and does not have control over the MicroView 4.0.
- **Take Control:** Press on this button to take control. The other CLCS HMI display will become secondary.
- 3 **Device Overview:** The information listed underneath provides information about the MicroView 4.0. The same information is displayed on the other CLCS HMI display that has the control. See the *User Settings Screen* section on page 13.
 - **Communication:** Indicates if the MicroView 4.0 is connected over the Ethernet/IP or Wi-Fi, along with the IP Address. See also the *User Settings Screen* section on page 13.